

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

# This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.

No endorsement of AgEcon Search or its fundraising activities by the author(s) of the following work or their employer(s) is intended or implied.



# PRICE SPREADS, COSTS, AND PRODUCTIVITY IN POULTRY AND EGG MARKETING, 1955-74

MXBINT AARH



ECONOMIC RESEARCH SERVICE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS REPORT NO.326 PRICE SPREADS, COSTS, AND PRODUCTIVITY IN POULTRY AND EGG MARKETING, 1955-74. By George B. Rogers. Commodity Economics Division, Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Agricultural Economic Report No. 326.

#### ABSTRACT

This study develops measures of costs, productivity, and returns in the marketing systems for eggs and poultry during 1955-74, using USDA's market basket price spreads series as a base. It also examines the changes in costs and productivity for individual marketing functions and the substitution between various inputs, based on a large number of previous studies.

KEY WORDS: Costs, eggs, marketing, poultry, price spreads, productivity.

Washington, D.C. 20250

February 1976

#### CONTENTS

Page

Summary	iv
Introduction	1
Procedures	2
Changes in Costs, Efficiency, and Returns	5
Assembly	5
Processing	5
Long-distance Transportation	7
Wholesaling	8
Retailing	9
Total Systems	9
Net Returns	9
Appendix Tables	11
Selected References	22

#### SUMMARY

Price spreads for eggs, broilers, and turkeys remained relatively constant from the midfifties to the late sixties. This was largely due to efficiencies realized in performing various marketing functions. Since the late sixties, increased costs for labor, containers, energy, and overhead have been large enough to more than offset any productivity gains in marketing efficiency. As a result, unit costs for performing various marketing functions have risen.

The relative importance of individual components of poultry-marketing costs changed over the 1955-74 period. The costs of these components increased at differing rates. Efficiency of some components increased more than others, and some substitution among components occurred. Relative declines occurred in the proportion of total costs accounted for by containers and material costs, energy (until recently) and miscellaneous costs, and the share for labor increased for many functions. Productivity increases for various marketing functions during 1955-74 suggest that productivity rose for almost all poultry-marketing functions. Efficiency in the use of most inputs thus tended to rise, though rates of gain now are leveling off for some of them. There is some indication that average net returns from performing particular marketing functions have declined relative to other investment opportunities.

A substantial number of previous studies were examined in developing the measures in this report. These are listed as selected references.

.7

#### PRICE SPREADS, COSTS, AND PRODUCTIVITY IN POULTRY AND EGG MARKETING, 1955-74

By

George B. Rogers Commodity Economics Division Economic Research Service

#### INTRODUCTION

During the late fifties and up to the midsixties, many Federal and State studies focused on costs and efficiency in poultry and egg marketing. Rapid changes were taking place in poultry production and marketing. Much new poultry raising and processing technology was being developed. Firms were realizing economies of scale through larger processing units, supply areas were being reduced in radius and increased in density, and marketing channels were becoming shorter and more direct. Studies thus extensively examined the likely impacts on industry structure and the cost-reducing opportunities available to individual firms.

From the midsixties through the early seventies, many of these trends continued. Relative costs of performing marketing functions continued to decline and further gains in efficiency occurred. Yet interest in costrelated research declined. Recently, however, with rapid inflation during the early seventies, the imposition and removal of price controls, the emergence of new regulatory-associated costs, and the arrival of the energy crisis, interest in cost measurement, monitoring, and research has been rekindled.

This report attempts to address these current concerns and to establish a continuing cost series for basic research and information purposes. The report: (1) concerns measurements of trends in price spreads and costs for specific marketing functions, (2) identifies the reasons for these changes, (3) examines the shifts in relative importance of cost items, and (4) estimates the changes in productivity of the poultry-marketing system in performing individual marketing functions and in using particular inputs.

#### PROCEDURES

Data in this report relate to the monthly market basket series, which reports "price spreads," the difference between the farm value and the retail price reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) for selected farm foods, including eggs, turkeys, and broilers. (Price spreads for the poultry items are illustrated in the chart on the cover of this report.) The market basket series, maintained by the Economic Research Service (ERS), was reported in the Marketing and Transportation Situation, until mid-1975, and is now carried in the ERS Agricultural Outlook report. The price spreads in the series represent movement of eggs and poultry through marketing channels culminating in retail sales to consumers, and do not include movements through institutional and away-from-home eating outlets, or movement into furtherprocessed products. Estimated divisions of total farm-to-retail price spreads, (table 1 and appendix tables 1-3), and costs by function and input (appendix tables 4-6), used for this report, were made on the basis of various Federal, State, and industry studies made since the early fifties. These allocations are obviously approximations, and are not the results of full or frequent cost surveys. Survey data being collected under cooperative agreements between ERS and the Georgia, Missouri, and Pennsylvania Agricultural Experiment Stations were particularly helpful on assembling and processing costs in recent years.

Functions shown in this analysis are: assembling, processing, longdistance transporting, wholesaling, and retailing. These approximate the divisions being used for all commodities in cost- and profit-component work being carried out by ERS. Such divisions represent arbitrary separations of functions performed in poultry and egg marketing systems. In many instances more than one function may be performed by a firm. But changes in the marketing system from both the technological and many organizational dimensions are reflected in these price spreads and costs.

The value of inputs used was estimated for five categories: wages, salaries, and fringe benefits; containers and materials; energy; overhead; and other. Net returns (appendix tables 10-11) were determined both from previous studies and as residuals from the price spread and cost series. Grouping cost inputs into five categories was necessary because of the limitations of previous studies. Per unit costs for functions and cost inputs were divided by the cost-index series (table 2) to derive the productivity-index series (table 3 and appendix tables 7-9).

For several reasons, the analyses of the distribution of costs and of function and factor productivity have been largely confined to averages for periods of several years. Year-to-year total spreads and those for particular functions are obviously affected greatly by price changes, and precise data on annual rates of net returns are sketchy. General cost indexes used are only approximations for actual factor costs prevailing in poultry and egg marketing, and thus might show some deviations in the magnitude and timing of cost changes. Moreover, since the method of determining productivity is statistical, long-term trend results may be more relevant than annual data. Table 1 --Average price spreads for Grade A large eggs, broilers, and turkeys, by function and as a proportion of total farm-to-retail spread, selected periods, 1955-74

Commodity and unit	Period.	Assembly	Processing	Long- distance transp.	: Whole- : saling :	Retail- : ing :	Total
:			Cen	ts per uni	<u>t</u>		
Eggs. doz. :	1955-59	1.040	7.480	1.360	2.400	7.840	20.120
	1960-64	. 860	7.080	1.260	2.440	9.160	20.800
:	1965-69	.700	6.300	1.240	2.580	9.480	20.300
:	1970-73	.825	7.450	1.250	2.775	10.625	22.925
:	1974 <u>1</u> /	1.200	8,900	1.500	3.200	10.300	25.100
Broilers, 1b.	1955-59	1.100	5.220	1.000	2.520	9.420	19.260
ready-to-cook :	1960-64	.860	4.360	1.000	2.560	9.020	17.800
whole :	1965-69	.920	4.740	1.000	2.720	10.140	19.520
:	1970-73	1.050	6.000	1.050	2.850	11.400	22.350
:	1974 <u>1</u> /	1.400	7.200	1.400	3.300	11.200	24.500
Turkeys 1h	1955-59	740	6,260	1.380	2.380	8.120	18.880
ready-to-cook	1960-64	.660	6.000	1.220	2.680	7.540	18.100
10ady - 10-200k	1965-69	720	6.140	1,240	2.920	8.040	19.060
	1970-73	725	9,175	1,100	3.050	10.325	24.375
	1974 <u>1</u> /	1.000	13.200	1.400	3.500	14.800	33.900
						,	
:			Percent of	total pric	e spread		
Eggs	1955-59	5.2	37.2	6.8	11.9	39.0	100.0
:	1960-64	4.1	34.0	6.1	11.7	44.1	100.0
:	1965-69	3.4	31.0	6.1	12.7	46.8	100.0
:	1970-73	3.6	32.5	5.5	12.1	46.3	100.0
:	1974 <u>1</u> /	4.8	35.5	6.0	12.7	41.0	100.0
Broilers	1955-59	5.7	27.1	5.2	13.1	48.9	100.0
:	: 1960-64	4.8	24.5	5.6	14.4	50.7	100.0
:	: 1965-69	4`.7	24.3	5.1	13.9	52.0	100.0
:	: 1970-73	4.7	26.8	4.7	12.8	51.0	100.0
	1974 <u>1</u> /	5.7	29.4	5.7	13.5	45.7	100.0
Turkeys	1955-59	3.9	33.2	7.3	12.6	43.0	100.0
:	: 1960-64	3.7	33.2	6.7	14.8	41.6	100.0
	1965-69	3.8	32.2	6.5	15.3	42.2	100.0
:	: 1970-73	3.0	37.6	4.5	12.5	42.4	100.0
·	: 1974 <u>1</u> /	3.0	38.9	4.1	10.3	43.7	100.0

1/ Preliminary.

Cost factor	: : 1955-59 :	: : 1960-64 :	: : 1965-69 :	: : : 1970-73 : : :	1974 <u>2/</u>
	•	<u>,</u>	( <u>1967=100</u> )		
Wages, salaries, fringe benefits <u>3</u> /	:				
Assembly, processing	: 70	85	101	132	159
wholesaling Retailing	: 69 : 68	81 82	100 102	135 134	159 163
Containers and materials 4/	: 91	96	100	115	153
Energy 5/	: : 93	99	99	123	206
Overhead <u>6</u> /	: : 72	84	96	125	145
Other <u>7/</u>	:	0.9	104	122	160
Eggs Broilers	: 95	98 95	104	121	156
Turkeys	: 99 :	98	103	126	150

Table 2 -- Changes in cost factors used in poultry and egg marketing, selected periods, 1955-74 1/

1/ Unless otherwise noted, index series are those regularly carried in the <u>Marketing and Transportation Situation</u> and since mid-1975, the <u>Agricultural</u> Outlook.

2/ Preliminary.

 $\overline{3}$ / Includes operating labor, management, administrative. For assembly and processing, based on hourly earnings in food manufacturing use. For long-distance transportation, hourly earnings in food wholesaling, and for retailing, hourly earnings in retail food stores.

4/ Packages, wrapping, office supplies. Index of containers and packaging materials.

5/ Light, heat, power. Index of fuel, power and light.

 $\overline{6}$ / Plant and equipment depreciation, interest on investment, rent, insurance, repairs, maintenance. Indexes of investment in new plant and equipment and long-term bond yield combined and lagged 3 years, then combined with index of services.

7/ Interest on operating capital, advertising, promotion, loss in handling, miscellaneous. Combination of indexes of long-term bond yield, total goods, and commodity price at farm level.

Some details are obscured by the use of average values for periods of years. In 1961 and 1967, for example, turkey production was much larger than in prior and following years. Due to processing plant capacity limitations during seasonal peak periods and to other time constraints, costs and spreads in those years widened appreciably, with some declinesin productivity. The use of the 1970-73 averages for these commodities does obscure many of the economic changes tracing particularly to the years 1972 and 1973. Thus, comparisons of 1970-73 averages with preliminary estimates for 1974 may often appear more startling than would annual trend comparisons.

#### CHANGES IN COSTS, EFFICIENCY, AND RETURNS

The study of changing costs, productivity, and earnings is complicated by many factors. Each marketing function is affected differently by the timing of the introduction and rate of adoption of technological changes, substitutions between various inputs, factor prices, structural changes, and shifts in marketing practices. Many previous studies have examined individual functions at a particular place or point in time or analyzed productivity by using one or a few inputs. Many such studies have been used to help synthesize a continuous and consistent set of measurements for this report.

#### Assembly

Assembly costs per unit of output declined after the midfifties, because of declining average hauling distances between farms and processing plants, increased volumes per load, and increased density of production around processing plants. Gains in efficiency more than offset rising factor prices associated with the assembly of broilers and turkeys until the midsixties, and those associated with assembly of eggs until the late sixties, after which time factor prices and assembly costs per unit of output increased more rapidly than gains in efficiency.

Total productivity in assembling eggs, broilers, and turkeys was substantially higher in 1965-69 than a decade earlier. Current productivity levels are above those of 1965-69. Since 1965-69, larger relative increases for turkeys and broilers than for eggs have reflected greater mechanization of loading operations with acompanying increases in labor productivity. Some further gains have occurred since 1965-69 for all three products because of larger producing units and increased density of supply areas. There were productivity gains from energy used in assembly, related to vehicle size and density of supply areas.

Wages, salaries, and fringe benefits have accounted for one-half to twothirds of total assembly costs. Energy has accounted for 30 to 40 percent, and overhead costs for 4 to 10 percent.

#### Processing

Costs per unit of output for packing eggs and slaughtering and eviscerating broilers and turkeys trended downward from the midfifties to the midsixties. Increased mechanization, realization of economies of scale by larger plants, and higher utilization of capacity produced efficiencies were

Commodity	Function	1955-59	1960-64	1965-69	1970-73	1974 <u>1</u> /
	:			(1965-69=100)	)	
Eggs	Assembly	52	81	100	109	101
00	Processing	67	80	100	104	112
	Long-distance					
	transportation	71	87	100	129	140
	Wholesaling	84	91	100	123	133
	Retailing	90	89	100	120	146
	Total	78	85	100	114	129
Broilers	Assembly	63	94	100	114	112
	Processing	68	96	100	101	106
	Long-distance					
	transportation	79	89	100	123	119
	Wholesaling	85	93	100	125	139
	Retailing	81	97	100	117	141
	Total	77	96	100	114	127
- 1	•	70	00	100	197	126
Turkeys	Assembly	70 76	90	100	83	75
	Processing	: 70	93	100		15
	Long-distance	71	01	100	147	150
		· 07	06	100	124	135
	Wholesaling	97	90	100	106	101
		70	93	100	102	97
	: Total	: 79	93	100	102	<b>31</b>
Eggs	Wages, salaries,	:				
-00-	fringe benefits	69	84	100	105	113
	Container &	-				
	: materials	88	91	100	106	118
	Energy	81	92	100	122	132
	Overhead	75	79	100	143	168
	Other	111	92	100	112	150
:		•				
Broilers	Wages, salaries,	. 71	05	100	100	107
	fringe benefits	: /1	95	100	100	107
	Container &	: 01	00	100	124	137
	materials	81	00	100	129	128
	Energy	85	98	100	122	162
	Overhead	/6	95	100	120	160
	Other	: 107	104	100	120	ŢŎO
Turkevs	Wages, salaries.	:				
	fringe benefits	• 69	91	100	94	83
	Container &	:			۰.	÷
	materials	86	94	100	.94	88
	Energy	106	106	100	111	109
	Overhead	76	90	100	114	116
	Other	91	98	100	100	110
	:					
	-					

Table 3--Productivity in poultry and egg marketing, by function and cost category, selected periods, 1955-74

<u>1</u>/ Preliminary.

more than sufficient to offset rising factor prices. While further gains in efficiency have occurred since the midsixties, they have not been sufficient to offset rising factor prices. Thus, costs per unit have risen. A major share of the rise in turkey processing costs since 1969 has been attributed to the processing of more fresh-killed birds and more self-basting packs.

Substantial increases in total productivity for all three commodities occurred after the midfifties. For example, egg packing shifted from a predominantly hand operation to one of mechanically grading, candling, and cartoning. Broiler and turkey processing lines with varied new forms of equipment also curtailed labor needs. The changing product mix on turkeys has led to some recent declines in total productivity in turkey processing. Productivity is assumed to have continued to rise for standard, unbranded, ready-to-cook whole birds. Productivity for egg processing has increased more than for broiler processing since 1965-69. But, labor productivity in broiler processing actually declined in the early seventies, when many plants experienced elevated turnover and labor supply problems.

Gains in labor productivity in handling standard products in processing plants have been substantial over the last 15 years. But, overhead productivity has not shown this pattern because of the extensive substitution of equipment for labor. The shift of most packaging functions back toward the processing plant level has nullified productivity gains associated with the use of containers and materials in processing plants, but has raised productivity for the total marketing system. Energy productivity declined from the midfifties to the mid- and late sixties because of the higher energy use for more mechanized equipment. More recently, energy productivity has increased due to economies of scale and new equipment.

In egg packing, containers and materials have been the largest item of expense, rising from under 40 percent in earlier years to above 44 percent recently. During the same period, wages, salaries, and fringe benefits as a proportion of total costs have declined from about 40 percent to about 27 percent. The share of energy costs has risen from under 3 percent to over 5 percent. Overhead costs have increased from under 8 percent to about 13 percent, while other costs have fluctuated at 10 percent and above.

Labor, still the major component of increased broiler processing costs, has declined from over 60 percent to under 50 percent of total costs since 1955. Increases in shares from 5 to 9 percent, 10 to 17 percent, and 7 to 12 percent, respectively, have occurred for energy, overhead, and other costs. Containers and materials have declined to less than 15 percent. Over the same timespan, labor costs in turkey processing have declined from over 45 percent to under 40 percent of total costs, and container and material costs from under 28 percent to almost 23 percent. The proportion of costs accounted for by energy have risen from 12 percent to 16 percent and overhead from 11 percent to about 15 percent.

#### Long-distance Transportation

Long-distance transportation costs have been affected by a variety of forces and there is no uniform pattern of change for the three commodities.

Costs on eggs declined until after the midsixties; costs on broilers remained steady into the seventies; and costs on turkeys have shown an erratic pattern. Costs for all three commodities have been variously affected by their exempt commodity status, by the shifts in regional production patterns, the displacement of rail by truck movement, and adjustments where back hauls were possible. Only recently have rising factor prices produced a clear upward effect on costs. In this study, long-distance transportation costs reflect movements within, as well as between regions. Thus, with most regions using a high percentage of local output, cost figures have been far below typical long-haul rates from distant producing areas to many large consuming centers.

Total productivity in long-distance transportation has shown an upward trend since the midfifties due to larger vehicles, reduced travel distances and travel time, and heavier gross and net loads. Upward trends in productivity have, on balance, been characteristic for all cost categories.

Overhead costs have accounted for half or more of total costs, and energy and labor costs for most of the remainder. The pattern of change relative to the proportions which individual cost categories are of total costs per unit has been somewhat variable by commodities, but cost breakdown data is less specific on long-distance transportation than for most other marketing functions. The share of energy costs, which has accounted for a quarter to a third of total costs, fell from the midfifties to the late sixties, but has risen since that time.

#### Wholesaling

Average costs per unit in wholesaling have shown a consistent upward trend for eggs, broilers, and turkeys since the midfifties. Until recently, when factor prices rose sharply, the rate of increase in costs per unit was relatively small and lower than the rate of increase in factor prices. This situation was largely due to relative changes in the kind of wholesaling operations being performed. As marketing channels have become more direct, a higher proportion of volume has gone directly to retail warehouses and stores from processors. Conversely, the proportion going through traditional wholesalers has declined. These shifts were more than sufficient to offset factor cost increases and the effects of urban congestion.

Total productivity in wholesaling has risen since the midfifties. The rates of increase have been much more modest for the labor, salaries, and fringe benefit category than for other categories. Productivity in using containers and materials has risen substantially because of the shift in the packaging function back toward processing plants. Rates of increase in productivity on energy, overhead, and other costs have largely reflected the changes in the nature of the wholesaling function.

Since the midfifties, the proportion of total costs per unit accounted for by labor, salaries, and fringe benefits has increased from 45 percent to over 65 percent. There have been declines of 3 to 5 percentage points on containers, 5 to 7.5 percentage points on energy, 5 to 6 percentage points on overhead, and 3.5 to 6.5 percentage points on other costs over the same period.

#### Retailing

Costs per unit in retailing eggs, broilers, and turkeys have trended upward since the midfifties, but more slowly than changes in factor prices. For other functions in the marketing system there has been a close relationship between directional changes in price spreads and costs. At retail, the relationship is not as close, probably due to the year-to-year effects of variable price merchandising (including the degree and depth of price specializing).

Since the midfifties total productivity in retailing standard products appears to have increased, generally at rates similar to the increases for the wholesaling function. Data series shown on turkeys for retailing, as on processing, have reflected a substantial change in product mix since the late sixties, and somewhat different productivity levels than would a more standard product. The growing importance of large retail outlets has increased productivity from overhead since the midfifties, and from energy since the 1965-69 period. Increased productivity in using containers and materials has resulted from the shift of packaging back to the processing plant level. Productivity from labor, salaries, and fringe benefits in retailing has shown only modest improvement over the last 15 years. Other cost categories have varied.

Wages and overhead costs are by far the most important categories at retail. The relative importance of labor, salaries, and fringe benefit costs, as a share of total costs per unit, has trended upward since the midfifties. Overhead costs, and less steadily, container and material costs, have trended downward, and energy costs have remained steady or increased as a share of total costs. The share for other costs has been variable to lower. Retail cost component data are based on fragmentary observations and are thus not represented as being as accurate as those for other cost functions.

#### Total Systems

Total price spreads and costs per unit of products in egg and poultry marketing systems remained remarkably stable from the midfifties through the sixties. But in the seventies, both average costs and spreads widened under the impact of higher factor prices. The proportions of total price spreads accounted for by various functions have changed irregularly during this period because of the timing of technological changes and shifts in the nature of the individual functions.

Overall productivity in egg and poultry marketing systems is now considerably higher than in the midfifties and somewhat higher than in the early seventies. In general, labor now accounts for a larger share of total costs per unit than in the midfifties and overhead for a smaller share. The share of container and material costs is generally slightly lower. The share for energy tended to decline, but has recently increased.

#### Net Returns

Ideally, with more adequate input data and the inclusion of all cost categories, net returns per unit of product would be the same as net profit per unit of product. It is not certain that the costs synthesized in this study include all cost categories. For example, central overhead charges in integrated, multiple-unit, multiple-function, and conglomerate-owned firms may not be fully reflected. Moreover, continuing data series on actual firm profits, by functions, are not available. Hence, net returns were often derived by subtracting accumulated costs from price spreads. These numbers can, however, be used as the basis for drawing some tentative conclusions about relative industry earning rates. This discussion of relative changes in net returns evaluates egg and poultry marketing in an opportunity cost sense. Long-term bond yield is used as an indicator of a stable and low-risk investment.

The upward trend in long-term bond yields since the midfifties was not matched over the entire time period by corresponding rates of increase in net returns per unit of product in egg and poultry marketing. The notable exceptions of sharply higher rates of net returns in egg and poultry marketing seem to have been related to periods of peak commodity prices.

The opportunities for achieving consistent levels of net returns over time may be better for service or distributive functions than for assembling or processing standard egg and poultry items. The derived net returns figures in this study tend to support this hypothesis. Nevertheless, year-to-year variations in net returns do occur because of market conditions and pricing policies, and averages for longer periods are more stable indicators.

In consideration of the relative risks involved, long-term bond yields should average lower than egg and poultry marketing systems returns. Derived net returns in this study tend to confirm this hypothesis. But over time, the ratios of net returns from egg and poultry marketing to long-term bond yields have tended to decline. Industry averages always hide the dispersion around them and the financial status of declining or rising firms. Thus, the drop in average rates of net returns might reflect this situation, some relative declines in risk, or some general worsening of relative earning capacity in egg and poultry marketing.

Firms in the egg and poultry marketing system, as elsewhere in the economy, use a wide variety of tests and ratios to assess their progress and financial position (see references, 9 and 42). Net returns per unit of product sold is only one such measurement, and somewhat different conclusions can emerge when total dollar returns or the relation to investment or equity are studied. One way of looking at net returns per unit of product is to consider the frequency (and total volume of marketing). In this sense, eggs, which are virtually a continuous flow product, show a lower rate of net returns for the marketing system than broilers or turkeys. Both of these have batch characteristics, at least at production stages. Batch spacing is wider for turkeys than for broilers, and marketings are much more highly seasonal than for either broilers or eggs.

#### APPENDIX TABLES

Appendix table 1 -- Price spreads for Grade A large eggs, 1955-74 1/

	Year	Assem	bly Pr	ocessing	Long-distance transportation <u>2/</u>	Whole- saling <u>3</u> /	Retailing	Total
		:			Cents per d	lozen		
1955 1956 1957 1958 1959 1960 1961 1962 1963 1964 1965 1966 1967 1968 1969		: 1. : 1. : 1. : 1. : 0. : 0.	1 1 0 0 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 8 8 7 7 7 7 7	7.57.57.57.47.37.27.17.0 $6.86.46.16.26.36.56.9$	1.5 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2	2.3 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.6 2.6 2.7 2.7	7.1 7.3 7.5 8.3 9.0 7.8 9.1 9.6 9.7 9.6 9.7 9.6 9.3 9.5 9.5 9.5	19.5 19.6 19.7 20.6 21.2 19.8 20.9 21.3 21.1 20.9 20.1 20.1 20.2 20.4 20.7 22.9
1970 1971 1972 1973 1974	<u>4/</u>	: 0. : 0. : 0. : 1.	8 8 9 2	7.2 7.6 8.1 8.9	1.3 1.2 1.2 1.5	2.8 2.8 2.8 3.2	10.5 10.0 10.7 10.3	22.6 22.5 23.7 25.1

 Equivalent to market basket series totals.
 Weighted average of intraregional and interregional movements.
 Weighted average of movements to wholesale distributors, retail warehouses, and retail stores.

4/ Preliminary.

Year	Assembly	Processing	Long-distance transportation 2/	Whole- saling 3/	Retailing	Total
	:	·			· · · · ·	
	:		Cents per pou	$\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{4}{2}$		
1955	: 1.2	5.6	1.0	2.5	8.6	18.9
1956	: 1.2	5.4	1.0	2.5	9.7	19.8
1957	: 1.1	5.2	1.0	2.5	9.8	19.6
1958	: 1.0	5.0	1.0	2.5	9.9	19.4
1959	: 1.0	4.9	1.0	2.6	9.1	18.6
1960	: · 09	4.7	1.0	2.6	8.6	17.8
1961	• 0.9	4.5	1.0	2.5	8.6	17.5
1962	. 0.9	4.3	1.0	2.5	9.2	17.9
1963	· 0.8	4.2	1.0	2.6	9.5	18.1
1964	: 0.8	4.1	1.0	2.6	9.2	17.7
	•					
1965	: 0.9	4.3	1.0	2.7	9.1	18.0
1966	: 0.9	4.5	1.0	2.7	10.4	19.5
1967	: 0.9	4.6	1.0	2.7	10.3	19.5
1968	: 0.9	5.0	1.0	2.7	10.2	19.8
1969	: 1.0	5.3	1.0	2.8	10.7	20.8
	:					
1970	: 1.0	5.4	1.0	2.8	11.9	22.1
1971	: 1.0	5.7	1.0	2.8	11.2	21.7
1972	: 1.0	6.2	1.1	2.9	10.1	21.3
1973	: 1.2	6.7	1.1	2.9	12.4	24.3
1974 <u>5</u> /	: 1.4	7.2	1.4	3.3	11.2	24.5
	:					

Appendix table 2 -- Price spreads for boilers, ready-to-cook, whole equivalent, 1955-74 1/

Equivalent to market basket series totals. 1/

 $\overline{2}/$ 

Weighted average of intraregional and interregional movements. Weighted average of movements to wholesale distributors, retail ware-3/ houses, and retail stores.

Fresh ice packed and similar forms. 4/

5/ Preliminary.

Year	: :As	sembly	: :Processing :	Long distance transportation 2	Whole- 2/ saling <u>3</u> /	Retail- ing <u>4</u> /	: : Total :
	:			Cents per pou	und <u>5</u> /		
1955	:	0.8	6.5	1.5	2.3	9.5	20.6
1956	:	0.8	6.4	1.4	2.3	9.5	20.4
1957	:	0.7	6.2	1.4	2.4	6.7	17.4
1958	:	0.7	6.3	1.3	2.4	9.9	20.6
1959	:	0.7	5.9	1.3	2.5	5.0	15.4
1960	:	0.6	5.8	1.2	2.5	7.3	17.4
1961	:	0.9	7.3	1.5	3.2	7.6	20.5
1962	:	0.6	5.8	1.2	2.5	7.3	17.4
1963	:	0.6	5.7	1.1	2.6	7.6	17.6
1964	:	0.6	5.4	1.1	2.6	7.9	17.6
	:						17 0
1965	:	0.6	5.2	1.1	2.6	7.8	1/.3
1966	:	0./	5.9	1.3	3.0	7.6	18.5
1967	:	0.9	7.0	1.5	3.2	8.3	20.9
1968	:	0.7	6.2	1.2	2.9	8.2	19.2
1969	:	0.7	6.4	1.1	2.9	8.3	19.4
1970 <u>6</u> /	:	0.7	8.5	1.1	3.0	9.6	22.9
1971 6/	:	0.7	8.7	1.1	3.0	10.3	23.8
1972 6/	:	0.7	8.8	1.1	3.1	10.2	23.9
1973 6/	:	0.8	10.7	1.1	3.1	11.2	26.9
1974 <u>6</u> / <u>7</u> /	:	1.0	13.2	1.4	3.5	14.8	33.9

	Appendix	table	3Price	spreads	for	turkeys	ready-to-cook,	whole	equivalent,	1955-74	1,
--	----------	-------	--------	---------	-----	---------	----------------	-------	-------------	---------	----

1/ Equivalent to market basket series totals, 1964-74. Earlier years estimated from continuing series for selected cities.

 $\frac{2}{3}$  Weighted average of intraregional and interregional movements.  $\frac{3}{3}$  Weighted average of movements to wholesale distributors, retail warehouses, and retail stores.

4/ Adjusted to reflect holiday price specials at retail.

5/ Mostly frozen.

6/ Reflects probable changes in product form. Adjusted at processing and retail levels for the wider spreads suggested by Bureau of Labor Statistics retail prices. 7/ Preliminary.

Function	: Cost Item :	: :1955-59 :	: :1960-64 :	: :1965-69 :	: : :1970-73 : : :	1974 <u>1</u> /
	•	:		Democrat		
	•	•		rercent	<u>-</u>	
Assembly	• Wagoo ealarios	•				
noocmory	: fringe benefits	•	57.2	60.3	60.2	58.5
	: Energy	: 37.6	35.7	30.9	29.5	31.2
	: Overhead	: 6.9	7.1	8.8	10.3	10.3
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:	:				
Processing	: Wages, salaries,	:				
-	: fringe benefits	: 39.8	34.1	26.8	28.2	27.4
	: Containers, materials	: 39.7	42.5	46.4	43.7	44.0
	: Energy	2.8	3.5	4.1	4.3	5.4
	: Overhead	: 7.6	9.4	12.4	13.8	12.5
	: Other	: 10.1	10.5	10.3	10.0	10.7
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:	:				
Long-distance	:	:				-
transportation	: Wages, salaries	:				
	: tringe benefits	: 18.2	18.7	19.8	18.7	17.9
	: Energy	26.6	25.0	23.4	25.2	31.4
	: Uverhead	: 53.2	54.3	55.0	54.1	48.8
	: Uther	2.0	2.0	1.8	2.0	1.9
		. 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Wholesaling	Wares salaries	•				1
wholesalling	fringe henefits	. 47.9	52.0	60.4	72.0	68.6
	: Containers.materials	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	6.0	4.7	3.0	3.3
	: Energy	22.2	19.2	16.3	11.4	14.9
	: Overhead	: 13.3	13.4	9.6	6.9	6.6
	: Other	: 10.0	9.4	9.0	6.7	6.6
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:	:				
Retailing	: Wages, salaries,	:				
	: fringe benefits	: 41.2	39.1	45.9	55.5	58.9
	: Containers, materials:	2.8	2.3	2.0	1.8	2.0
	: Energy	: 3.5	3.2	3.5	3.5	5.3
	: Overhead	37.6	36.7	30.1	21.6	19.0
	: Other	: 14.9	18.7	18.5	18.0	14.8
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
m - · · 1		:				
Total	: wages, salaries,		20 <i>I</i> .	10 6	1.4 3	/6 1
	· ITINGE DENEIIUS	. 40.0 . 17 ∩	30.4 16 6	40.0 16 0	40.J 15 Q	40.1 17 A
	· Containers, Materials	• ро	δ U TO'O	10.2	۰.5T ۲۵۰۶	17.U Q 7
	• Overhead	· 0.7	24 D	7.0 22 7	185	16.4
	: Other	10.8	12.8	12.9	12.3	10.8
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:					

Appendix Table 4 -- Proportions of Grade A large egg marketing costs, by function and cost items, selected periods, 1955-74

1/ Preliminary.

,

Function	: Cost Item	: 1955-59	:	:	: : •1970-73 •	1074 1/
runction	:	:	:	:	: : :	19/4 <u>1</u> /
	:	:				
	:	:		Percent	<u>.</u>	
	:	:				
Assembly	: Wages, salaries,	:				
	: fringe benefits	: 64.4	67.7	70.3	72.2	66.5
	: Energy	: 31.8	27.9	25.2	23.1	29.1
	: Overhead	: 3.8	4.4	4.5	4.8	4.4
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Processing	: Nacas salandas	:				
Processing	: wages, salaries,	:	40 1	(0.0	F1 1	· - ·
	: Iringe Deneiits	: 02.4	49.1	48.0	51.1	4/.4
	· Containers, materials	: 13.0	18./	16.4	13.2	14.1
	· Chergy	· 10 0	1.2	0.0	0.3	8.9
	• Overneau • Other	• 7 3	14.4 10 6	10.0	11 7	17.U
	· Total	. 100 0	10.0	100 0	11.7	12.0
	: :	. 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Long-distance	•	•				
transportation	: Wages, salaries,					
	: fringe benefits	. 18.0	18.1	16 1	15 9	14 5
	: Energy	: 29.1	27.4	24.9	26.8	31 2
	: Overhead	: 49.6	51.3	55.9	54.1	51.8
	: Other	: 3.3	3.2	3.1	3.2	2.5
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:	:				
Wholesaling	: Wages, salaries,	:				
	: fringe benefits	: 44.9	49.1	54.5	67.1	67.0
	: Containers, materials	: 8.5	8.3	7.0	4.1	4.6
	: Energy	: 18.2	16.1	13.6	10.1	10.5
	: Overhead	: 13.6	12.4	11.7	7.5	7.5
	: Other	: 14.8	14.1	13.2	11.2	10.4
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	:	:			•	
Retailing	: Wages, salaries,	:				
	: fringe benefits	: 38.4	42.1	46.0	56.6	62.0
	: Containers, materials	: 6.9	6.2	4.8	4.0	4.2
	: Energy	: 3.0	3.4	3.3	3.2	4.8
	: Overhead	: 37.6	33.9	32.1	24.8	20.3
	: Other	: 14.8	14.1	13.2	11.2	10.4
A., -		: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Totol	: . Nasas selentes	:				
TOLAL	• wages, salaries, • fringe benefite		<i>kk</i> 0	17 0	FF 0	FF /
	· IIIIge Deneills	• 40.J	44.9	4/.3	55.2	55.6
	• Concarners, materials	· 0.0	9.0	/.5	6.2	0./ 10.1
	· Duerbead	• 0.0 • 25 2	0.0	/.9	/•1	10.1 10 F
	• Other	· 23.3	23.3	23.2	21.U 10 E	10.2 C.01
	Total	: 100.0	100 0	100 0	10.5	9.1 100 0
	:	:	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

### Appendix Table 5 ---Proportions of broiler marketing costs, by functions and cost items, selected periods, 1955-74

1/ Preliminary.

Function	: Cost Item :	1955-59	1960-64:	1965-69	1970-73	1974 <u>1</u> /
	:			Percent		
Assembly	: Wages, salaries,					
	: fringe benefits	: 53.4	54.8	59.7	61.2	54.6
	: Energy	: 43.4	41.2	36.4	34.3	41.4
	: Overhead	: 3.2	4.0	3.9	4.5	4.0
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Processing	: Wages, salaries,					
	: fringe benefits	: 46.1	38.4	34.4	38.0	39.8
	: Containers.materials	26.8	28.0	27.9	22.9	22.8
	: Energy	: 11.9	14.7	15.7	12.4	16.2
	: Overhead	: 11.0	14.3	16.6	18.6	14.7
	: Other	: 4.2	4.6	5.4	8.1	6.5
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Iong-distance	: • Wares salaries					
transportation	<ul> <li>fringe benefits</li> </ul>	21.4	18.6	16.9	14.3	14.3
cransportación	• Energy	26.8	25.9	23.3	27.7	32.8
	• Overhead	48.8	52.3	56.8	55.1	50.6
	• Other	3.0	3.2	3.0	2.9	2.3
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Uhalagalina	: Magoa colorioa	:				
wholesaling	: wages, salaries,	•	17 9	52 5	64 2	65 9
	Containara matariala	• • • •	47.0	67	4.2	4.6
	Frorey	• 20 4	19.2	16.7	14 0	15.3
	· Owerhoad	• 12 0	12 5	13.0	8.8	7.1
	· Othor	• 13 7	12.3	11.1	8.8	7.1
	· Total	• 100 0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
•	:	:	100.0	100.0	100.0	10010
Retailing	: Wages, salaries,	:	<u></u>			
	: fringe benefits	: 30.4	31.6	36.8	42.0	42.9
	: Containers, materials	: 4.5	3.8	2.8	3.8	4.4
	: Energy	: 6.5	8.1	9.3	9.8	13.3
	: Overhead	: 42.5	41.4	37.0	32.5	28.8
	: Other	: 16.1	15.1	14.1	11.9	10.6
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Total	: Wages, salaries,	:				
	: fringe benefits	: 37.9	36.3	38.0	42.6	43.2
	: Containers, materials	: 12.2	12.3	11.4	11.1	11.8
	: Energy	: 13.2	14.5	14.6	13.0	16.6
	: Overhead	: 26.6	27.2	26.5	24.1	20.6
	: Other	: 10.1	9.7	9.5	9.2	7.8
	: Total	: 100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
	•	:				

Appendix Table 6 -- Proportions of turkey marketing costs, by functions and cost items, selected periods, 1955-74

1/ Preliminary.

•

Cost Item	Function	1955-59	1960-64	1965-69	1970-73	<u>1974 1</u>
	:	:	(	( <u>1965-69=100</u>	)	
Wages,	: Assembly •	: 51	72	100	111	103
salaries,	: Processing	: 39	58	100	106	111
fringe	: Long-distance	:				- / -
benefits	: transportation	: 68	83	100	143	147
	: Wholesaling	: 94	99	100	106	114
	: Retailing	: 91	98	100	102	114
	: Total	: 69	84	100	105	113
Containers,	: Processing	: 89	92	100	104	116
materials	: Wholesaling	: 70	79	100	164	177
	: Retailing	: 77	82 -	100	115	137
	: Total	: 88	91	100	106	118
Energy	: : Assembly	: : 52	70	100	111	101
2	: Processing	: 118	105	100	102	116
	: Long-distance	:				
	: transportation	: 75	91	100	115	130
	: Wholesaling	: 75	89	100	166	185
	: Retailing	: 113	110	100	116	125
	: Total	: 81	92	100	122	132
Overhead	: Assembly	: 65	89	100	95	91
	: Processing	: 103	101	100	100	108
	: Long-distance	:				
	: transportation	: 71	87	100	132	142
	: Wholesaling	: 59	67	100	172	179
	: Retailing	: 74	75	100	170	220
	: Total	: 75	79	100	143	168
Other	: : Processing	: 78	82	100	103	106
	: Long-distance	: 70	00	100	105	124
	: transportation	: 70	00	100	105	124
	: Wholesaling	: 89	95	100	148	170
	: Retailing	: 139	97	100	112	170
	: 10121	: 111	92	100	112	130
Total	: Assembly	: 52	81	100	109	101
	: Processing	: 67	80	100	104	112
	: Long-distance : transportation	: : 71	87	100	129	140
	: Wholesaling	: 84	91	100	123	133
	: Retailing	: 90	89	100	120	146
	: Total	: 78	85	100	114	129
	:	•	-	<b>-</b>		

Appendix Table 7 --Measurements of productivity in marketing Grade A large eggs, by cost items and functions, selected periods, 1955-74

<u>1</u>/ Preliminary.

Cost Item	: Function :	: 1955-59 :	1960-64	: : 1965-69 :	: : 1970-73 :	: 1974 <u>1</u> / :	
	:	: (1965+69=100)					
Wages, salaries,	Assembly	63	93 -	100	112	111	
fringe benefits	Processing	48	89	100	98	107	
	Long-distance						
	transportation	62	72	100	130	126	
	Wholesaling	91	95	100	105	113	
	Retailing	87	99	100	97	105	
	Total	71	95	100	100	107	
Containers.	: Processing	90	91	100	113	119	
materials	• Wholesaling	82	87	100	188	212	
	Retailing	69	84	100	126	153	
	Total	81	88	100	124	137	
Energy	Assembly	62	96	100	120	120	
	Processing	111	104	100	107	108	
	Long-distance						
	transportation	80	91	100	110	119	
	Wholesaling	77	90	100	161	182	
	Retailing	113	110	100	117	125	
	Total	85	98	100	122	128	
Overhead	Assembly	75	95	100	111	102	
	· Processing	113	109	100	98	98	
	Long-distance						
	transportation	84	95	100	128	116	
	Wholesaling	70	87	100	195	226	
	Retailing	70	93	100	153	210	
	Total	76	95	100	138	163	
Other	Processing	: 143 :	114	100	98	99	
	: transportation	<b>:</b> 88	88	100	112	132	
	• Wholesaling	• 92	93	100	134	173	
	· Retailing	: 102	104	100	130	214	
	Total	107	104	100	120	160	
Total	Assembly	• 63	94	100	114	112	
IULAI	Processing	68	96	100	101	106	
	Long-distance	: 79	89	100	123	119	
	· Wholesaling	• 85	93	100	125	139	
	· Rotailing	: 81	97	100	117	141	
	Total	: 77 : 77	96	100	114	127	
	:	:					

## Appendix Table 8 ---Measurements of productivity in broiler marketing, by cost items and functions, selected periods, 1955-74

<u>1</u>/ Preliminary

Cost Item	: Function :	: : 1955-59 :	: 1960-64 : : :	: 1965-69: :	1970-73	:1974 <u>1</u> / :
	:	: : ( <u>1965-69=100</u> )				
Waqoo calaries	: Assembly	: : 75	100	100	126	124
fringe benefits	: Processing	: 50	78	100	79	64
Tringe benefice	: Long-distance	:				
	: transportation	: 49	75	100	133	168
	: Wholesaling	: 100	98	100	104	104
	: Retailing	: 81	100	100	94	86
	: Total	: 69	91	100	94	83
Containara	: • Processing	: • 92	98	100	93	. 87
matoriala	· Wholesaling	• 82	96	100	173	184
materials	. Wholesaling	. 57	77	100	71	61
	· Total	· 57	94	100	94	88
	•			200	2	
Frorgy	• • Assembly	. 81	97	100	131	132
Ellergy	· Processing	: 121	110	100	105	94
	· Long-distance	:				•
	• transportation	. 73	92	100	118	132
4	: Wholesaling	: 95	96	100	140	187
	: Retailing	: 135	122	100	97	92
	: Total	: 106	106	100	111	109
	:	:				
Overhead	: Assembly	: 87	93	100	112	108
	: Processing	: 110	104	100	77	79
	: Long-distance	:				
	: transportation	: 79	97	100	152	152
	: Wholesaling	: 100	100	100	182	228
	: Retailing	: 65	83	100	122	121
	: Total	: 76	90	100	114	116
	:	:				
Other	: Processing	: 119	114	100	54	59
	: Long-distance	:				
	: transportation	: 92	95	100	150	189
	: Wholesaling	: 95	94	100	145	193
	: Retailing	: 84	95	100	119	126
	: Total	: 91	98	100	100	110
	:	:			107	100
Total	: Assembly	: 78	98	100	127	126
	: Processing	: 76	93	100	83	/5
	: Long-distance	:	<u>a-</u>	100		100
	: transportation	: 71	91	100	14/	100
	: Wholesaling	: 97	96	100	124	135
	: Retailing	: 76	93	100	100	101
	: Total	: 79	93	100	102	97
	1	2				

Appendix Table 9 --Measurements of productivity in turkey marketing, by cost items and functions, selected periods, 1955-74

1/ Preliminary.

Appendix Table	10Relative	changes in	net returns	in egg and	poultry marketin	ıg,
by funct	tions, vs. lon	g-term bond	yields, sele	ected perio	ds, 1955-74	

:	:	Marketing Functions				Long-term
Commodity :	Period :	Preparatory :	Distributive	:		: bond yield
:	:	1/ :	<u>2</u> /	:	Tot <b>a</b> l	:
:	:	- :		:		:
:		<u>(</u>	1965-69=100)			
Eggs :	1955-59	97	107		98	65
:	1960-64	75	98		90	77
•	1965-69	100	100		100	100
:	1970-73	118	135		130	133
:	1974 3/	136	91		100	152
:						
<b>Broilers:</b>	1955-59	91	110		103	65
:	1960-64	89	104		100	77
:	1965-69	100	100		100	100
:	1970-73	117	119		117	133
:	1974 <u>3</u> /	,130	80		88	152
: Turkevs	1955-59	91	109		103	65
:	1960-64	103	102		102	77
	1965-69	100	100		100	100
•	1970-73	97	131		119	133
•	1974 <u>3</u> /	107	187		158	152
•						

Assembly, processing, long-distance transportation. Wholesaling and retailing. Preliminary.

 $\frac{1}{2}$ / $\frac{3}{3}$ /

Appendix Table 11 -- Relative net returns in Poultry and egg marketing compared with long-term bond yields, selected periods, 1955-74

	: : Long-term	: Net returns in:				
Period : : :	: bond : yields :	Egg marketing	Broiler : marketing :	Turkey marketing		
	: : <u>Percent</u>	Perce	nt of total pric	ce spread		
1955-59	3.70	6.28	7.69	9.06		
1960-64	4.35	5.75	7.46	9.00		
1965-69	: 5.67	6.42	7.44	8.83		
1970-73	: 7.52	8.34	8.71	10.47		
1974 <u>1</u> /	: : 8.60	6.45	6.56	13.99		
	:					

1/ Preliminary.

#### SELECTED REFERENCES

- Agricultural Marketings Service, <u>Farm Retail Spreads for Food</u> <u>Products Costs, Prices</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Misc. Pub. No. 741, Nov. 1957.
- (2) Agricultural Marketing Service, Special Studies of Marketing Costs and Practices, U.S. Dept. Agr., MRR-240, Oct. 1958.
- (3) Baker, R. L. and E. Malinovsky, <u>Direct Marketing of Eggs in Ohio</u>, Ohio Coop. Ext. Serv., Bul. No. 542, 1971.
- (4) Bawden, D. L., H. O. Carter, and G. W. Dean, <u>Interregional</u> <u>Competition in the U.S. Turkey Industry.</u>, Univ. of Calif. Agr. Exp. Sta., Hilgardia, Vol. 37, No. 13, June 1966.
- (5) Bell, D., Egg Packing Costs--1973, Univ. of Calif., Coop. Ext. Serv., Riverside County, March 1, 1974.
- (6) Bird, K. R., An Analysis of Egg Handling Costs and Efficiency, Okla. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. B-568, Nov. 1960.
- (7) Blair, C. B., R. A. Andrews, R. L. Christensen, and E. T. Bardwell, Optimization of Egg Assembly, Processing and Distribution in Maine, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire, N.H. Agr. Exp. Sta., Res. Rpt. No. 12, July 1970.
- (8) Bloom, G. F., Productivity in the Food Industry--Problems and Potential, Cambridge, Mass: The MIT Press, 1972.
- (9) Brooks, R. C., <u>Financial Ratio Analysis of Broiler Producing and</u> <u>Processing Firms</u>, Econ. Spec. Rpt. No. 10., Dept. Econ., N.C. State Univ., May 1970.
- (10) Buck, J. T., Egg Delivery Practices and Costs, Va. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul 551, Dec. 1963.
- (11) Buck, J. T., Egg Marketing in Virginia, Va. Polyl. Inst., Agr. Ec. Rpt. 1, June 1970.
- (12) Buck, J. T., <u>Costs and Efficiency of Egg Marketing by Virginia</u> <u>Producers-Processors</u>, Va. Poly. Inst., Misc. Pub. 750, 1973.
- (13) Byers, G. B. and S. A. Callahan, <u>Estimating Costs</u>, <u>Potential</u> <u>Efficiencies and Profit Margins in Assembling</u>, <u>Processing</u>, and <u>Distributing Eggs</u>, Ky. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 701. June 1965.
- (14) Clayton, P. C. and R. E. Cray, <u>Labor Efficiency in Egg Assembling</u> and <u>Grading Plants</u>, Ohio Agr. Exp. Sta., Res. Bul. 773, May 1956.
- (15) Conlogue, R. M., <u>Marketing Costs and Margins for Chicken Fryers and</u> <u>Fowl Sold in Chicago and Minneapolis--St. Paul</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., MRR-195, Nov. 1957.

- (16) Conlogue, R. M., <u>Candling and Cartoning Eggs at Country Points</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., MRR-366, Dec. 1959.
- (17) Conlogue, R. M., <u>Costs of Procurement and Assembly of Eggs in Three</u> <u>Midwestern States</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., ERS-92, Oct. 1962.
- (18) Econ. Res. Serv., <u>Developments in Marketing Spreads for Agricultural Products in 1973</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr. Statement to Subcomm. on Agr., (Envir. and Cons. Protect.), Comm. on Appropr., U.S. House Rep., 93rd Cong., 2nd Sess., March 1974.
- (19) Econ. Res. Serv., Various Issues of <u>Marketing and Transportation</u> <u>Situation</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr.
- (20) Espenscheid, R. P. and R. L. Baker, <u>Producer Processing of Turkeys</u>, Ohio Agr. Exp. Sta., Res. Circ. 161, Sept. 1968.
- (21) Faber, F. L., <u>Present and Alternative Methods of Pricing Eggs</u> U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., ERS-275, Feb. 1966.
- (22) Faber, F. L. and R. J. Irvin, <u>The Chicken Broiler Industry:</u> <u>Structure, Practices, and Costs</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., MRR-930, May 1971.
- (23) Gallimore, W. W. and R. J. Irvin, <u>The Turkey Industry: Structure</u>, <u>Practices and Costs</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., MRR-1000, June 1973.
- (24) Gray, L. R., <u>Marketing Costs and Price Spreads for Eggs, Frying</u> <u>Chickens, and Turkeys Sold in San Francisco</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., MRR-314, April 1959.
- (25) Gray, L. R.. Price Spreads, Costs and Marketing Channels for Eggs and Poultry Sold in Trenton, N.J., U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., MRR-434, October 1960.
- (26) Gray, L. R. and R. J. Willis, <u>Prices and Price Spreads for Eggs</u>, <u>Frying Chickens</u>, and Turkeys in <u>Selected Cities</u>, <u>1956-61</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., ERS-60, Apr. 1962.
- (27) Henry, W. F. and C. R. Burbee, <u>Marketing New England Poultry, 5</u> <u>Effects of Size and Density on Assembly Costs</u>, N.H. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 482, April 1964.
- (28) Hertzgaard, T. A., Optimum Patterns of Production and Distribution of Livestock and Poultry Products, Upper Midwest Economic Study Tech. Paper No. 10, Univ. Minn., May 1964.
- (29) Jack, R. L. and A. A. Kadar, <u>Cost of Collecting Eggs from Farms by</u> <u>Firms Located in West Virginia</u>, W. Va. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 571, Feb. 1969.

- (30) Jackson, G. H. and O. D. Forker, <u>An Analysis of Factors Influencing</u> <u>Shell-Egg Distribution Costs</u>, Cornell Agr. Exp. Sta., A. E. Res. 318, Mar. 1970.
- (31) Jones, H. B. and J. C. Thompson, <u>Marketing Costs and Labor</u> <u>Productivity in Commercial Egg Packing Plants</u>, Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. N.S. 93, June 1962.
- (32) Jones, H. B., <u>Economies of Scale in Commercial Egg Packing Plants</u>, Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. N.S. 120, Sept. 1964.
- (33) Jones, H. B., <u>Economies of Scale in Egg Packing Plants Under</u> <u>Changing Cost and Technological Conditions.</u>, Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta., Tech. Bul. N.S. 43, Oct. 1965.
- (34) Jones, H. B. and H. R. Smalley, <u>Vertically Integrated Methods of</u> <u>Producing and Marketing Eggs: An Economic Evaluation</u>, Ga. Agr. <u>Exp. Sta.</u>, Bul. N.S. 160, May 1966.
- (35) Judge, G. G. and R. L. Baker, <u>Time and Cost Functions for Egg</u> Routes, Poultry Science, 31(4), July 1952, p. 739-744.
- (36) Kriesel, H. C., Factors Affecting the Competitive Position of the Poultry Industry in West Virginia and Other Regions, W. Va. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 529 T, June 1966.
- (37) Ladd, G. W. and M. P. Halvorson, <u>Least-cost Number, Size, and</u> <u>Location of Turkey-processing Plants in Minnesota, Iowa, and</u> <u>Wisconsin</u>, Iowa St. Agr. Exp. Sta., Spec. Rpt. No. 63, Aug. 1969.
- (38) LaPlante, M. G., E. E. Brown, and J. R. Anderson, <u>Inter and Intra-State Movements of Light and Heavy Fowl in Georgia</u>, Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta., Res. Rpt. 67, March 1970.
- (39) Masters, G. C. and J. C. Thompson, "Egg Pricing-Don't Sell Yourself Short!", Garden St. Publ. Co., Egg Industry, Oct. 1974, p. 24-25, 32-33.
- (40) Meredith, A. A., <u>The Competitive Position of the New Jersey Egg</u> <u>Industry, Part III.-Transportation Costs and Problems</u>, N.J. Agr. Exp. Sta., A. E. 289, April 1963.
- (41) Mortenson, W. P., <u>Processing and Marketing Turkeys in the North</u> <u>Central States</u>, Wisc. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. 543, Feb. 1960.
- (42) National Comm. on Food Mktg., Organization and Competition in the Poultry and Egg Industries, Tech. Study No. 2, June 1966.
- (43) National Comm. on Food Mktg., <u>Cost Components of Farm-Retail Price</u> Spreads for Foods, Tech. Study No. 9, June 1966.
- (44) Peeler, R. J. and R. A. King, <u>In-Plant Costs of Grading and Packing</u> <u>Eggs</u>, N.C. State Univ., A. E. Inf. Ser. No. 106. August 1963.

(45) Peeler, R. J. and R. A. King, <u>Optimum Location of Egg Grading</u> <u>Plants in North Carolina</u>, No. Car. St. Univ., A. E. Inf. Ser. No. 111, March 1964.

15 00

- (46) Raskopf, B. D. and J. F. Miles, <u>Labor Efficiency in Broiler</u> <u>Processing Plants in the South</u>, Tenn. Ag. Exp. Sta., So. Coop. Ser. Bul. No. 112, Jan. 1966.
- (47) Raskopf, B. D. and B. W. Nelms, <u>Commercial Egg Transportation</u> <u>Costs in Tennessee</u>, U. Tenn., Prog. Rpt. No. 68, Nov. 1968.
- (48) Raskopf, B. D. and L. E. Brinkley, <u>Commercial Egg Marketing Costs</u> <u>in Tennessee</u>, U. Tenn., Prog. Rpt. No. 72, Nov. 1969.
- (49) Raskopf, B. D., <u>Labor Utilization and Labor Costs in Commercial</u> <u>Egg Packing Plants</u>, 15 Firms, Tennessee, 1971, Tenn. Agr. Exp. Sta. Prog. Rpt. No. 81, Jan.-Mar. 1972.
- (50) Reed, F. D., <u>The Maine Poultry Industry, Its Impact, Growth and</u> <u>Competitive Position</u>, U. Maine Coop. Ext. Serv., Circ. 394, Rev. July 1970.
- (51) Rinear, E. H., <u>Marketing Margins and Practices for Turkeys Sold</u> <u>in Three Eastern Markets</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., <u>MRR-191</u>, August 1957.
- (52) Rogers, G. B., "OPS Finds Wide Variations in Costs", Paper, <u>1953</u> <u>Fact Finding Conference Proceedings</u>, Institute of American Póultry Industries, Kansas City, Mo., p. 99-104.
- (53) Rogers, G. B. and E. T. Bardwell, <u>Marketing New England Poultry</u>, <u>2. Economies of Scale in Chicken Processing</u>, N.H. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 459, April 1959.
- (54) Rogers, G. B. and E. H. Rinear, <u>Costs and Efficiency in Turkey</u> <u>Processing Plants</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., ERS-26, Aug. 1961.
- (55) Rogers, G. B., <u>Costs of Processing and Assembling Turkéys</u>, Paper, Inst. Am Poul. Ind., Fact Finding Conference, Kansas City, Mo., Feb 15, 1963.
- (56) Rogers, G. B. and E. T. Bardwell, <u>Marketing New England Poultry</u>, <u>4. Structure and Performance of the Assembly System</u>, N.H. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bul. 476, April 1963.
- (57) Rogers, G. B. and E. H. Rinear, <u>Costs and Economies of Scale in</u> <u>Turkey Processing Plants</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., <u>MRR No. 627</u>, Sept. 1963.
- (58) Rogers, G. B. and F. M. Conley, <u>Marketing Poultry and Eggs</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., ERS-324, October 1966.

- (59) Rogers, G. B., R. M. Conlogue, and R. J. Irvin, <u>Economic</u> <u>Characteristics of and Changes in the Market Egg Industry.</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., MRR-877, April 1970.
- (60) Rogers, G. B. and R. J. Irvin, <u>Interregional Movements of Poultry</u> and Eggs, 1955-1973, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., draft manuscript.
- (61) Rogers, G. B. and V. W. Benson, "Production and Marketing Costs and Margins for Poultry and Eggs", <u>Poultry and Egg Situation</u>, PES-284, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., Nov. 1974, p. 23-25.
- (62) Sanders, B. L. and L. B. Fletcher, <u>Coordinated Egg Production and</u> <u>Marketing</u> in the North Central States. V. Least-cost Egg Marketing Organization Under Alternative Production Patterns, Iowa St. Univ., N.C. Reg. Res. Publ. No. 171, Oct. 1966.
- (63) Scott, F. E. and H. T. Badger, <u>Farm-Retail Spreads for Food</u> <u>Products</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., Misc. Publ. No. 741, Jan. 1972.
- (64) Shafer, C. E., <u>Marketing Practices and COsts of Texas Egg</u> Producer-Wholesalers, Texas Agr. Exp. Sta. B-1011, May 1964.
- (65) Smith, H. D. and E. B. Miller, <u>A Review of Freight Rate Proposals</u> <u>Affecting the Maryland Poultry Industry</u>, Md. Agr. Exp. Sta., <u>Misc. Pub. 571</u>, Jan. 1966.
- (66) Snitzler, J. R. and R. J. Byrne, <u>Interstate Trucking of Fresh and</u> <u>Frozen Poultry under Agricultural Exemption</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Mktg. Serv., MRR No. 224, March 1953.
- (67) Stemberger, A. P. and W. L. Henson, <u>Least-Cost Egg Marketing</u> <u>System for the Northeast</u>, Pa. Agr. Exp. Sta., A. E. and R. S. 79, April 1969.
- (63) Stemberger, A. P. and F. J. Telley, <u>Direct Egg Marketing: Farm</u> to Retail Store, Pa. Ag. Exp. Sta., A. E. and R. S. 108, Nov. 1973.
- (69) Taylor, E. G. et al., Los Angeles Wholesale Food Distribution <u>Facilities</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr. Res. Serv., MRR-966, Nov. 1972.
- (70) Thompson, J. C. and L. T. Smith, <u>Operating Practices and Selected</u> <u>Costs of 40 Commercial Egg Packing Firms</u>, Georgia, 1968., Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta., Res. Rpt. 74, April 1970.
- (71) Thompson, J. C. and B. D. Raskopf, <u>Labor Utilization and Cost of</u> <u>Egg Packing Plants in Seven Southern States</u>, Ga. Agr. Exp. Sta:, So. Coop. Series Bul. No. 181, Jan. 1974.

- (72) Thompson, W. II., <u>Transportation of Poultry and Poultry Products</u> from Iowa, Iowa St. Univ., Dept. Ind. Adm. Rpt., Nov. 1970.
- (73) Vertrees, J. G. and H. E. Larzelere, <u>Factors Affecting Shell Egg</u> <u>Distribution Channel Costs</u>, Mich. St. Univ., A. E. Rpt. No. 214, March 1972.
- (74) Via, J. E. and J. L. Crothers, <u>The Delmarva Poultry Industry in</u> <u>Interregional Competition</u>, Md. Agr. Exp. Sta., MP 750, March 1970.
- (75) Waldorf, W. H. and H. F. Gale, <u>Output per Man-Hour in</u> <u>Distributing Foods of Farm Origin</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., Econ. Res. Serv., Tech. Bul. No. 1335, April 1965.
- (76) Warren, C. J., <u>The Netherlands Poultry Meat Industry</u>, U.S. Dept. Agr., For. Agr. Serv., FAS-M-247, August 1972.
- (77) White, M., <u>Relationship of Marketing Methods to Costs of</u> <u>Assembling, Grading, and Packaging Table Eggs</u>, Auburn Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. 348, Oct. 1963.
- (78) White, M. and M. N. Leath, <u>Marketing Alabama Broilers</u>, Auburn Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. 369, June 1966.
- (79) Williams, R. J., <u>An Economic Comparison of Egg Marketing Systems</u>, Cornell Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. 975, June 1962.
- (80) Yergatian, C. and D. A. Storey, <u>Wholesaler Egg Marketing Costs in</u> <u>Massachusets</u>, Mass. Agr. Exp. Sta., Bul. 589, Oct. 1966.